IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JANE DOE DANCER, I; JANE DOE DANCER, II; JANE DOE DANCER, III; and JANE DOE DANCER, V, individually, and on behalf of Class of similarly situated individuals,

Appellants,

vs.

LA FUENTE, INC., an active Nevada Corporation,

Respondent.

CASE NO.: 78078

District Court Case No. A-14-70989-C

Electronically Filed
Mar 10 2020 03:39 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

KIMBALL JONES, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No.: 12982
BIGHORN LAW
716 S. Jones Blvd.
Las Vegas, Nevada 89107
Telephone: (702) 333-1111
Email: kimball@bighornlaw.com

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal of a final judgment under NRAP

3A.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal should be retained by the Supreme Court because it raises as a principal issue a question both of first impression and of statewide public importance involving the scope of the Minimum Wage Amendment to the Nevada Constitution, Nev. Const. Art. XV, sec. 16 (the “MWA”). NRAP 17(a)(10-11).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The test for independent contractor status in NRS 608.0155 states it applies only “[f]or the purposes of this chapter” (*i.e.*, Chapter 608). NRS 608.0155(1). Did the trial court err in determining NRS 608.0155 applies to MWA claims?
2. The MWA was enacted by Nevada voters to ensure that “more, not fewer, persons would receive minimum wage protections.” *Terry v. Sapphire Gentlemen’s Club*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 87, 336 P.3d 951, 955 (2014), *reh’g denied* (Jan. 22, 2015). Can the Legislature, by ordinary enactment, ensure that fewer, not more, persons would receive minimum wage protections under the MWA?
3. Should the MWA’s definition of employee be construed in the same manner as the identical definition in the parallel federal minimum wage law (*i.e.*, by

reference to the economic realities test) and are the Dancers the Club's employees under that test?

4. If the test for independent contractor status in NRS 608.0155 limits the scope of MWA claims, did the trial court err in applying it?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an employee misclassification class action. Appellants (the Dancers) worked as exotic dancers at Appellee La Fuente, Inc.'s Las Vegas strip club, Cheetah's, and seek a determination that Appellee ("Cheetah's" or "the Club") is required to treat them as employees under the Minimum Wage Amendment to the Nevada Constitution, Art. XV, sec. 16. *See generally* Amended Complaint at APP 0001-0017. Cheetahs, as Sapphire and other clubs have done, classifies its dancers as independent contractors who must pay the club a "house fee" to use the club's facilities to conduct their own allegedly independent business with their "clients" (the club patrons). *See generally* Answer at APP 0008-0037. Cheetahs claims its relationship with its Dancers is that of principal and independent contractor, even though the Club has never paid its Dancers as independent contractors and continues to insist the Dancers perform work for it. APP 0187-209.

The Court held that NRS 608.0155 applied to limit MWA claims, concluded the Dancers were independent contractors under that test as a matter of law, and therefore granted the Club's motion for summary judgment on the Dancers' claims.

APP 2502-2506; APP 2507-2522.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The original complaint was filed on November 14, 2014 and the operative amended complaint (alleging violation of the MWA and unjust enrichment) was filed on May 1, 2015. APP 0001-0017. The Club filed an answer on June 9, 2015. APP 0018-0033.

On January 4, 2019, the trial court (a) granted the Club's motion for summary judgment on all the Dancers' claims because it found the Club's dancers were independent contractors under NRS 608.0155; and (b) denied the Dancers' motion for summary judgment on employee status with prejudice. APP 952-961.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Facts relating to employee status under the MWA.

1. Whether dancers exert control over a meaningful part of the exotic dance business.

- The Club controls the club's layout, décor, and ambiance. Dancers have no control over the club layout, décor, and ambiance. *See* APP at 0038 (Deposition of Diana Pontrelli); App at 0734 (La Fuente Response to Second Set of Requests for Admissions at Response to Request No. 13).
- The Club controls Cheetahs hours of operation and sets the amount of cover charges charged to Club Patrons. Dancers have no control over Cheetahs

hours of operation and cover charge amounts. *APP* at 0733 (Response to Request Nos. 10 and 11); and *APP* at 0039 (Deposition of Diana Pontrelli).

- The Club sets up, maintains, and controls access to VIP rooms. *APP* at 0039
- The Club set pricing for VIP rooms, requires a 2-drink minimum to use the VIP room, and requires all fees to be paid for in advance. *See APP* at 0059 (Deposition of Diana Pontrelli).
- The Club set pricing for floor dances. *See APP* at 0049 (Deposition of Diana Pontrelli).
- The Club sets dance pricing and advertises the pricing on signs throughout the club. *See APP* at 0049 (Deposition of Diana Pontrelli).
- The Club established and maintained three shifts for its dancers: a “day shift” from 5:00 a.m. to 1:00 p.m., a “swing shift” from 1:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m., and a “graveyard shift” from 9:00 p.m. to 5:00 a.m. *See APP* at 0040 (Deposition of Diana Pontrelli).
- The Club controlled which shifts dancers could work. *See APP* at 0055, 0066, 131 (Deposition of Diana Pontrelli); and Ex. 6 [*La Fuente House Mom Log Book (2015-2017) produced by Defendant La Fuente, Inc. in response to Plaintiffs’ Third Set of Requests for Production, Request No. 18*] at 0767-0784.

- The Club requires dancers to pay a fee to work each shift and another fee if they do not want to dance on stage. *See APP at 0058, 0063 (Deposition of Diana Pontrelli).*
- The Club requires dancers who work two consecutive shifts to pay a \$25 “stay over” fee. *See APP at 0057 (Deposition of Diana Pontrelli).*
- The Club requires dancers to check in with the DJ at the beginning of a shift to get on the stage rotation list unless they paid an additional “off stage” fee. *App at 0058, 0063.*
- The Club’s managers could terminate or suspend dancers for any reason. *See APP at 0062; and APP 0767-0784*
- On March 29, 2015 the Club suspended a dancer because she “refused to finish her 6 hrs” shift and allegedly exhibited a “bad attitude.” *See APP 0770.*
- On May 18, 2015, the Club terminated a dancer for “leaving early without any explanation” and for getting into a dispute with a customer over payment for dances. *See APP at 0772.*
- On May 25, 2015, the Club informed a dancer that she could not work any afternoon shifts on Sunday, Monday, or Tuesday because of an alleged “negative attitude.” *See APP at 0773.*

- On August 30, 2015, the Club informed a dancer that she could not work on Sunday, Monday, or Tuesday because she asked to leave early on several occasions. *See* APP at 0774.
- On November 14, 2015, the Club terminated a dancer because of her alleged “poor, rude, nasty attitude towards Cheetahs staff.” *See* APP at 0777.
- On August 16, 2016, the Club terminated a dancer for being “very disrespectful [sic] to mgr [sic].” *See* APP at 0780.
- On August 16, 2016, the Club suspended a dancer from all shifts “until she speaks to a mgr [sic] to clarify a very vicious rumor.” *See* APP at 0780.
- On December 18, 2016, the Club terminated a dancer from “all shifts” allegedly for being “disrespectful to house mom.” *See* APP at 0782.
- On February 21, 2017, the Club prohibited a dancer from working past 1:00 p.m. because of “her attitude + being disrespectful [sic] towards house mom.” *See* APP at 0784.
- The Club requires all dancers to sign a “Dancer Performance Lease” (the “Lease”) in order to work at the Club. *See* APP 0043 (Deposition of Diana Pontrelli); and APP 0762-0765 (*Dancer Performance Lease*).
- The Lease contains the following provisions:

a. Each lease date “shall consist of a minimum of 6 consecutive hours (one “set”) during which PERFORMER shall provide entertainment consistent with this LEASE.” *See* APP 0762-0765.

b. “PERFORMER agrees to: Perform nude and/or semi-nude entertainment at the PREMISE for the general public during all hours of each set for which she has LEASED the PREMISES.” *See* APP 0762-0765.

c. OWNER shall establish a fixed fee for the price of table, taxi and couch dances performed on the PREMISES ... and PERFORMER agrees not to charge a customer more than the fixed price for any such dance performance” APP 0762-0765.

d. OWNER shall have the right to impose such rules and regulations upon the use of the PREMISES by PERFORMER as OWNER, in its sole and absolute discretion, deems necessary and appropriate” APP 0762-0765.

- The club requires dancers to sign in on a sheet, at the top of which is printed a list of rules. *See* APP 0052-0053.
- The Club published and enforced the following rules: no street clothes, wear high heels (at least 3”), check out with the manager and DJ, do not refuse a drink or shooter from a customer, change costumes at least three times during

each shift, no purse or cell phone on the floor, no smoking or chewing gum on the floor. *See APP at 0052-0054.*

- The Club does not allow dancers to run tabs on dances. *See APP 0059.*
- The Club does not allow dancers who were not on stage to approach customers sitting at a stage. *See APP at 0059.*
- The Club requires dancers to talk to customers and sit with them for at least one song before asking them for a dance. *See APP at 0753*
- The Club requires Dancers dancing on stage to have removed their tops after the second song. *See APP at 0059*
- The Club did not allow Dancers' spouses or significant others in the club while they were working. *See APP at 0059; and 0753.*
- The Club did not allow anyone who may have given a Dancer a ride to the club to enter the club during that dancer's shift. *See APP at 0059; and 0753.*

2. Whether the relative investment of the parties in the exotic dance business indicates a dependent relationship.

- The Club does all the advertising for Cheetahs, including offering special promotions and creating content on Cheetahs' webpage. Dancers have no control advertising for Cheetahs and do not create content on Cheetahs' webpage. *See APP at 0038.*

- The Club obtains and pays for all of the licensing and fees necessary to operate the Club. Dancers do not pay any amount for the licensing and fees necessary to operate the Club. *See APP at 0038.*
- The Club advertised 2 for \$20 lap dance promotions and expects dancers to honor the deal. *See APP at 0051*
- The Club hires and pays a DJ and all other employees necessary to run the club. Dancers have nothing to do with hiring or paying any club employees. *See APP at 0038.*
- The Club pays for all repairs, maintenance, rent and utilities necessary to operate the Club. Dancers do not pay any amount for repairs, maintenance, rent and utilities necessary to operate the Club. *See APP at 0038.*
- Exotic dancers are integral to Cheetah's business model. *See APP at 0043;* and Defendant La Fuente, Inc.'s Answer to Plaintiffs' First Amended Class Action Complaint APP at 0022.

3. Whether the dancers' opportunity for profit or loss depends on their managerial skill.

- The Club obtains and pays for all of the licensing and fees necessary to operate the Club. Dancers do not pay any amount for the licensing and fees necessary to operate the Club. *See APP at 0038.*

- The Club hires and pays a DJ and all other employees necessary to run the club. Dancers have nothing to do with hiring or paying any club employees. *See APP at 0039.*
- The Club pays for all repairs, maintenance, rent and utilities necessary to operate the Club. Dancers do not pay any amount for repairs, maintenance, rent and utilities necessary to operate the Club. *See APP at 0039.*
- The Club was responsible for attracting customers to the venue through its exclusive control over advertising and marketing and the setting of a cover charge for admission. *See APP at 0038.*

4. Whether exotic dancing requires a special skill.

- The Club does not require prospective dancers to audition in order to work at the club; managers simply perform a visual inspection and brief interview “to get a vibe where they’re coming from.” *See APP at 0041.*
- The Club does not require Dancers to have any prior experience or dance training in order to work at the club. *See APP at 0041.*

5. Whether the dancer-club relationship lacks a high degree of permanence.

- The Club’s managers could terminate or suspend dancers for any reason. *See APP at 0062; and APP 0767-0784*

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The central liability question in this case is whether the Club's dancers are employees within the meaning of the MWA. The trial court erred by ignoring the MWA's definition of employee and instead holding that the dancers met the test for independent contractor status in NRS 608.0155 and therefore are excluded from the MWA's protections. NRS 608.0155 does not purport to apply to MWA claims and, as this Court held in *Thomas*, if it did it would be preempted. The MWA's definition of employee, which this Court already has indicated is very broad, is identical to the definition in the parallel federal wage law, the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), 29 USC §§ 201-219. This Court should confirm that the MWA incorporates the FLSA's economic realities test and that the Club's dancers are its employees under that test as a matter of law.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a trial court's grant of summary judgment and construction of statutes *de novo*, giving no deference to its findings. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 121 P.3d 1026 (2005).

A lower court's decision concerning subject matter jurisdiction is subject to *de novo* review. *Castillo v. United Fed. Credit Union*, 409 P.3d 54, 57 (Nev. 2018).

ARGUMENT

- A. The trial court erred in determining NRS 608.0155 applies to MWA claims because the statute does not purport to do so (Issue 1).**

NRS 608.0155 creates a new threshold test for independent contractor status in evaluating Chapter 608 claims. And, of course, the Legislature is free to modify this statutory scheme as it wishes, subject to federal preemption concerns. Under the amended statutory scheme, this Court’s decision in *Terry* that NRS 608.010 (the statutory definition of employee) incorporates the FLSA’s economic realities test still stands,¹ although individuals who meet the NRS 608.0155 test for independent contractor status now will be excluded from that definition.

The trial court erred in applying NRS 608.0155 to limit the Dancers’ MWA claim and in ignoring the MWA’s definition of employee because, as the first six words of the statute state, its test for independent contractor status applies only “[f]or the purposes of this chapter” (*i.e.*, Chapter 608). NRS 608.0155(1). It is well established that, when interpreting a statute, the language of a statute should be given its plain meaning. *We the People Nevada v. Secretary of State*, 124 Nev. 874, 881, 192 P.3d 1166, 1170–71 (2008). If the Nevada Legislature had intended to ignore the principle of constitutional supremacy and enact a statute that purported to exclude individuals from the protections afforded by the MWA, it easily could have said so, but did not.

As discussed in this brief’s next section, application of NRS 608.0155 to limit

¹ The Club in its briefing to the trial court suggested, erroneously, that this Court’s interpretation of NRS 608.010 in *Terry* was “abrogated by statute.” APP 1312:1.

an MWA claim would run afoul of the principle of constitutional supremacy and raise preemption concerns. Thus, even if NRS 608.0155 could conceivably be construed to apply to MWA claims, such a problematic interpretation would be eschewed per the doctrine of constitutional avoidance. *Sheriff, Washoe Cty. v. Wu*, 101 Nev. 687, 689–90, 708 P.2d 305, 306 (1985) (“Where a statute may be given conflicting interpretations, one rendering it constitutional, and the other unconstitutional, the constitutional interpretation is favored.”). *See also United States v. Jin Fuey Moy*, 241 U.S. 394, 401 (1916) (“A statute must be construed, if fairly possible, so as to avoid not only the conclusion that it is unconstitutional, but also grave doubts upon that score.”).

The only reasonable interpretation of NRS 608.0155’s scope that saves it from unconstitutionality and preemption concerns is the interpretation suggested by its plain language: that it does not apply to MWA claims but applies only “[f]or the purposes of this chapter.” NRS 608.0155(1).

- B. The Legislature cannot, by ordinary enactment, exclude individuals from the protections afforded by the MWA (Issue 2).**
- 1. Applying NRS 608.0155 to exclude individuals from the protections afforded by the MWA would run afoul of the principle of constitutional supremacy.**

If NRS 608.0155 were interpreted to apply to MWA claims it would be unconstitutional. If an individual is an employee within the MWA’s definition of that term (as interpreted by this Court, the ultimate authority on the constitution’s

meaning) then no statute can remove that individual from the constitution's protections because "the principle of constitutional supremacy prevents the Nevada Legislature from creating exceptions to the rights and privileges protected by Nevada's Constitution." *Thomas v. Nevada Yellow Cab Corp.*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 52, 327 P.3d 518, 522 (2014), *reh'g denied* (Sept. 24, 2014). *See also Strickland v. Waymire*, 126 Nev. 230, 241, 235 P.3d 605, 613 (2010) ("The constitution may not be construed according to a statute enacted pursuant thereto; rather, statutes must be construed consistent with the constitution — and rejected if inconsistent therewith.").

The Legislature has no power to limit the scope of a constitutional provision or a constitutional cause of action. "If the Legislature could change the Constitution by ordinary enactment, 'no longer would the Constitution be 'superior paramount law, unchangeable by ordinary means.' It would be 'on a level with ordinary legislative acts, and, like other acts, ... alterable when the legislature shall please to alter it.'" *Thomas*, 327 P.3d at 522 (*quoting City of Boerne v. Flores*, 521 U.S. 507, 529 (1997) (alteration in original) (*quoting Marbury v. Madison*, 5 U.S. 137 (1803))).

This Court in *Thomas* already enforced the principle of constitutional supremacy and foreclosed any legislative attempt to restrict or alter the MWA's broad scope when it struck down a pre-existing statute purporting to exclude taxicab drivers from the MWA's broad definition of employee. *Thomas* at 522. For the

reasons set forth at length in *Thomas*, a threshold statutory test that would accomplish a similar result as the legislative exemption at issue in *Thomas* (*i.e.*, excluding individuals from the “rights and privileges protected by Nevada’s Constitution”) also would be preempted. That a specific statutory exemption (at issue in *Thomas*) and a statutory test excluding an entire category of individuals from the constitution’s protections (at issue here) are equally impermissible seems beyond argument. To hold otherwise would render meaningless this Court’s ruling in *Thomas* (and the principle of constitutional supremacy it enforced) because it would permit the Legislature to re-establish the supposedly preempted statutory exemption for taxicab drivers simply by enacting a statute that said “any person who transports passengers in a vehicle for a fee” is an independent contractor. The principle of constitutional supremacy cannot be so easily subverted. This Court has determined that the MWA was enacted by Nevada voters to ensure that “more, not fewer, persons would receive minimum wage protections.” *Terry v. Sapphire Gentlemen’s Club*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 87, 336 P.3d 951, 955 (2014). If the Legislature for some reason wanted to ensure that fewer, not more, persons would receive minimum wage protections under Nevada law, it would need to amend or repeal the MWA (although, as explained in the next section and as this Court previously has noted, even if the MWA was repealed a state wage law that purported to cover fewer persons than the parallel federal wage law would be preempted).

2. NRS 608.0155 is preempted by its conflict with the Fair Labor Standards Act.

Pursuant to the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution, ‘state laws that conflict with federal law are without effect.’” *Munoz v. Branch Banking*, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 23, 348 P.3d 689, 690 (2015) (quoting *Altria Grp., Inc. v. Good*, 555 U.S. 70, 76 (2008) (internal quotations omitted)). See also *Gade v. Nat’l Solid Waste Mgmt. Ass’n*, 505 U.S. 88, 108 (1992) (“[U]nder the Supremacy Clause, from which our preemption doctrine is derived, any state law, however clearly within a State’s acknowledged power, which interferes with or is contrary to federal law, must yield.”). State laws are preempted and without effect if “a party’s compliance with both state and federal laws is impossible, or ... the [federal] act’s purpose would be frustrated if state law were to apply.” *Nanopierce Techs., Inc. v. Depository Tr. & Clearing Corp.*, 123 Nev. 362, 375, 168 P.3d 73, 82 (2007).

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