#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

#### **DOCKET NO. 78078**

JANE DOE DANCER, I; JANE DOE DANCER, II; JANE DOE DANCER, III; and JANE DOE DANCER, V, Individually, and on behalf of Class of Similarly situated individuals,

Electronically Filed Apr 08 2020 12:34 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Dancers,

VS.

LA FUENTE, INC., an active Nevada Corporation,

Respondent.

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

DEAN R. FUCHS, ESQ.

(GA Bar No. 279170 – Admitted Pro Hac Vice)

Schulten Ward Turner & Weiss, LLP 260 Peachtree Street, NW, Suite 2700

Atlanta, Georgia 30303 Telephone: (404) 688-6800

Email: d.fuchs@swtwlaw.com

DOREEN SPEARS HARTWELL, ESQ.

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

#### II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court correctly granted summary judgment to Respondent Cheetahs below, finding there was no genuinely disputed issue of material fact that Dancers satisfied the criteria of NRS 608.0155 to be conclusively presumed to be independent contractors as a matter of law. In enacting NRS 608.0155 in the wake this Court's decision in *Terry v. Sapphire Gentlemen's Club*, 130 Nev. 879 (2014), the Nevada Legislature plainly intended to clarify who was an independent contractor under Nevada law, and desired NRS 608.0155 to apply retroactively.

Application of NRS 608.0155 to the facts of record plainly demonstrate

that Dancers are conclusively presumed independent contractors, and such a conclusion does not run afoul of the Minimum Wage Amendment, nor is NRS 608.0155 preempted by the Fair Labor Standards Act. Even assuming the "economic realities" test applies to determine whether Dancers were Cheetah's employees, the undisputed facts still result in the conclusion that, as a matter of law, Dancers were not the club's employees.

### III. ARGUMENT

# A. The Nevada Legislature Intended NRS 608.0155 To Apply to Claims Brought Under the MWA.

The express language of the Minimum Wage Amendment to the Nevada Constitution, Art. XV, sec. 16 (hereafter, "MWA") is clear that the Nevada Legislature intended NRS 608.0155 to apply to claims brought under the MWA. Dancers disagree and argue that the District Court erred in applying NRS 608.0155 to their wage claims brought under the MWA. Opening Brief at 11-13. Dancers base their argument on the part of NRS 608.0155, which says "[for] the purposes of this Chapter [608]." *Id.* Thus, Dancers contend that NRS 608.0155 only applies to claims asserted under NRS Chapter 608<sup>1</sup>. *Id.* Dancers reason that had the Legislature intended for NRS 608.0155 to apply to claims brought under the MWA, it would

Since nothing in Dancers' Opening Brief states otherwise, Respondent La Fuente, Inc. d/b/a Cheetahs Topless Lounge ("Cheetahs") presumes Dancers are not seeking review of those portions of the District Court's order granting summary judgment on any claims other than those brought under the MWA.

have said so. Id.

It did. Section 7 of Senate Bill 224, later codified as NRS 608.0155, expressly states:

The amendatory provisions of this act apply to <u>an action or proceeding to recover unpaid wages pursuant to Section 16 of Article 15 of the Nevada Constitution [the MWA]</u> or NRS 608.250 to 608.290, inclusive, in which a final decision has not been rendered before, on or after the effective date of this act. 2015 Statutes of Nevada, Chapter 325, Pages 1743-44. (Emphasis Added).

Based on the above, it is clear that NRS 608.0155 applies to the Dancers' MWA claims.

### B. Applying NRS 608.0155 Does Not Run Afoul of the MWA's Protections.

Dancers incorrectly argue that NRS 608.0155 improperly removes persons from the MWA's protections. Opening Brief at 13. They reason that by applying NRS 608.0155 to their MWA claims, Nevada's Constitution would be rendered inferior to NRS 608.0155, and no statute can remove the protections provided by the MWA. Opening Brief at 13-14. Dancers' argument relies upon an assumption that they are presumptive "employees" pursuant to the definition of employee under the MWA, and that NRS 608.0155 cannot remove them from the scope of the MWA's definition of "employee." *Id.* However, no such "employee presumption" exists in Nevada.

NRS 608.0155 only provides a test by which to presumptively conclude whether an individual is an independent contractor, <u>not an employee</u>. No definition of an independent contractor exists in the MWA, and, prior to the enactment of NRS 608.0155, none existed within NRS Chapter 608. Nev. Const. Art. XV, § 16. However, individuals were obviously identified as "independent contractors" under Nevada law prior to the enactment of the MWA.

Additionally, this Court has found that when there is no direct conflict between the MWA and the provisions of NRS Chapter 608, they can be "'...capable of coexistence' so long as the statute is understood, as it may reasonably be, to supplement gaps in the MWA's terms." *Perry v. Terrible Herbst*, 132 Nev. 767, 772, 383 P.3d 257, 261 (2016) (relying NRS Chapter 608 to enforce rights under MWA). Moreover, "[W]hen possible, the interpretation of a . . . constitutional provision will be harmonized with other statutes or provisions to avoid unreasonable or absurd results." *We the People Nevada ex rel. Angle v. Miller*, 124 Nev. 874, 881, 192 P.3d 1166 (2008).

Here, no direct conflict exists between the MWA and NRS Chapter 608. The statutory test to determine whether someone is an independent contractor does not abrogate the definition of employee in the MWA. See

NRS Chapter 608. See also, Nev. Const. Art. XV, § 16. Dancers cite Thomas v. Nevada Yellow Cab Corp., 130 Nev. 484, 327 P.3d 518, 521 (Nev. 2014) in support of their argument that NRS 608.0155 subordinates the Nevada Constitution and therefore should be ignored. Opening Brief at 14-15. Dancers' reliance on Thomas is incorrect because this Court did not make such a determination, and instead found that the MWA definition of "employee" was "vague" and that "independent contractor" was a recognized business relationship not within the definition of an "employee." Terry v. Sapphire Gentlemen's Club, 336 P.3d 951, 954, 130 Nev. 879, 883-84 (2014). In fact, in Terry this Court held that the courts were obligated to look within Nevada statutes to determine definitions for both an employee and an independent contractor. Id. at 955.

Accordingly, NRS 608.0155 can be applied harmoniously with the MWA because since its enactment the statute now provides a clear definition of when a person can be conclusively be presumed to be an independent contractor and not an employee. Notably, NRS 608.0155 does not state that a person who does not meet those criteria is automatically an employee. It follows, therefore, that the MWA's definition of an "employee" remains unchanged by NRS 608.0155, and none of the protections of the MWA are removed.

### C. NRS 608.0155 Is Not Preempted By the FLSA.

Dancers contend NRS 608.0155 is preempted by the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. ("FLSA"). Opening Brief at 16-17. This argument fails because this Court has previously determined that the FLSA does not preempt NRS Chapter 608 and does not conflict with the FLSA. See Dancer I-VII v. Golden Coin, Ltd., 124 Nev. 28, 32, 176 P.3d 271, 274 (2008). Opening Brief at 16-17. Further, NRS 608.0155 does not define who is or who is not an employee under Nevada law, nor does it affect in any manner the implementation of the FLSA under any circumstance. Id. Accordingly, neither NRS 608.0155, nor NRS Chapter 608 more broadly, is preempted by the FLSA. Golden Coin, Ltd. 124 Nev. at 32.

# D. No Genuine Issue of Material Fact Exists Whether Dancers Are Conclusively Presumed Independent Contractors Under NRS 608.0155.

Dancers appeal the District Court's order granting Cheetahs' Motion for Summary Judgment which determined that no genuine issue of material fact remained as to whether Dancers satisfied all of the criteria required by NRS 608.0155 to be conclusively presumed independent contractors as a matter of law. Summary judgment is appropriate when the evidence and

Dancers' Opening Brief does not address this Court's decision in Golden Coin, Ltd., even though Appellants' counsel herein was counsel of record for Appellants in Golden Coin, Ltd.

pleadings on file, viewed in light most favorable to the non-moving party, demonstrates that no genuine issue of material fact remains and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005).

To be conclusively presumed an independent contractor under NRS 608.0155, a person must satisfy the criteria set forth in NRS 608.0155(1)(a)-(c). As shown more fully below, the District Court did not err in concluding that no genuine issue of material fact remained as to whether Dancers satisfied all of the criteria required by NRS 608.0155(1)(a)-(c) to be conclusively presumed to be independent contractors.

#### 1. Dancers Entered Into Performance Leases with Cheetahs.

Dancers argue that NRS 608.0155 does not apply if no contract existed between them and Cheetahs to perform work. Opening Brief at 36-39. Yet, the record clearly demonstrates there were, in fact, written contracts between the parties. APPX. at II, 328-333 and at III, 648-650 (the "Dancer Performance Leases"). Dancers do not specifically argue that no contracts exist between the parties; rather, they contend that Cheetahs' Dancer Performance Leases characterized Dancers as "licensees" instead of as independent contractors, and, therefore, conclude

that NRS 608.0155 cannot apply. This is a distinction without a difference.

The evidence of record plainly demonstrates the existence of written contracts between the parties. *Id.* Dancers cite no appellate decision holding that because a party is "characterized" in a certain manner that no contract can exist preventing the application of NRS 608.0155. Opening Brief at 37-38. Further, Dancers' argument fails because NRS 608.0155(1)(c)(5)(II) and (III) specifically contemplates that part of an exotic dancer's capital investment is the purchase of a license to utilize space to perform or pay rent to lease space to perform, which is precisely what the Dancer Performance Leases do.

# 2. Dancers Met the Requirements of NRS 605.0155(1)(a) and (b).

Dancers conceded below (and the District Court concluded) that Dancers met the requirements of NRS 605.0155(1)(a) and (b). APPX. at V, 956-957, 959. Dancers do not challenge the portion of the District Court's Order which found that the requirements of NRS 608.0155(1)(a) and (b) were satisfied.

# 3. Dancers Met All of The Required Criteria of NRS 608.0155(1)(c).

In addition to meeting the requirements of NRS 608.0155(1)(a) and

### (b), NRS 608.0155(1)(c) requires that:

The person satisfies three or more of the following five criteria:

- (1) Notwithstanding the exercise of any control necessary to comply with any statutory, regulatory or contractual obligations, the person has control and discretion over the means and manner of the performance of any work and the result of the work, rather than the means or manner by which the work is performed, is the primary element bargained for by the principal in the contract.
- (2) Except for an agreement with the principal relating to the completion schedule, range of work hours or, if the work contracted for is entertainment, the time such entertainment is to be presented, the person has control over the time the work is performed.
  - (3) The person is not required to work exclusively for one principal unless:
- (I) A law, regulation or ordinance prohibits the person from providing services to more than one principal; or
- (II) The person has entered into a written contract to provide services to only one principal for a limited period.
  - (4) The person is free to hire employees to assist with the work.
- (5) The person contributes a substantial investment of capital in the business of the person, including, without limitation, the:
- (I) Purchase or lease of ordinary tools, material and equipment regardless of source;
- (II) Obtaining of a license or other permission from the principal to access any work space of the principal to perform the work for which the person was engaged; and
  - (III) Lease of any work space from the principal required to

perform the work for which the person was engaged.

The determination of whether an investment of capital is substantial for the purpose of this subparagraph must be made on the basis of the amount of income the person receives, the equipment commonly used and the expenses commonly incurred in the trade or profession in which the person engages.

conceded below that the requirements of NRS Dancers 608.0155(1)(c)(3) were met but disputed that the remaining sub-sections of NRS 608.0155(1)(c) were satisfied. Opening Brief at 39-42. District Court disagreed, determining that no genuine issue of material fact remained as to whether Dancers met the first three criteria set forth in NRS 608.0155(1)(c). APPX. at V, 959-960. As is shown below, the District applied facts below NRS Court properly the 608.0155(1)(c)(1)-(3), and had no reason to reach the issue of whether Dancers also satisfied subsections (1)(c)(4) or (5).

# a. Dancers Had Complete Control Over the Means and Manner Of their Performance and Result of Their Work.

Regarding the criteria set forth in NRS 608.0155(1)(c)(1), the District Court properly determined that there were indisputable facts demonstrating that Dancers had complete control over the means and manner of the performance and the result of their work, including without limitation, their undisputed ability to choose when and how

frequently to perform, how long to perform, their ability to perform at other clubs or work other jobs, which of Cheetahs' customers they choose to entertain, and how to do so. APPX. at V, 957-960.

Dancers contend that NRS 608.0155(1)(c) actually consists of two components with the first being the "exercise of control" component and the second, the "result of the work being the primary element bargained for by the principal in the contract." Opening Brief at 39. They do not, however, offer any legal authority for this proposition. Id. Regardless, Dancers apparently contend that they do not meet the self-defined "second component" of this subsection since the Dancer Performance Leases signed by Dancers describes them as "licensees" instead of independent contractors and do not state that Cheetahs bargained for any work performed by Dancers at Cheetahs. Opening Brief at 38. While not a model of clarity, Dancers appear to argue that the "primary element bargained for" cannot be a license fee paid by Dancers for work that they may or may not have performed. *Id*.

This argument is without merit. The criteria identified in NRS 608.0155(1)(c)(1) plainly contemplate that the issue of control is concerned with whether Dancers entered into an agreement wherein they had control over the means of performing and the result of those

performances. NRS 608.0155(1)(c). As the District Court recognized, indisputable facts existed demonstrating that Dancers had such control. APPX. at V, 957-960. Specifically, Section 10 of the Dancer Performance Lease expressly provides that Cheetahs:

shall have no right to direct and/or control the nature, content, character, manner or means of PERFORMER's performances. PERFORMER acknowledges and agrees, however, to perform live nude and/or semi-nude entertainment consistent with the type of entertainment regularly performed on the PREMISES.

#### APPX. at III, 649.

Both contractually and in fact, Dancers had substantial control over the time their work is performed and discretion over the means and manner of the performance of and the result of the work. *Id.* As such, Dancers had and entered into an agreement with Cheetahs in which they had the necessary control required by NRS 608.0155(1)(c)(1).

### b. NRS 608.0155(1)(c)(2) Applies to the Dancers.

Dancers contend that since the Dancer Performance Lease with Cheetahs is for entertainment work, NRS 608.0155(1)(c)(2) does not apply to them. Opening Brief at 40. But NRS 608.0155(1)(c)(2) does not exclude entertainment agreements. The plain language of NRS 608.0155(1)(c)(2) provides that only if the contract is for entertainment where the time for such entertainment "is to be presented," then such a

contract is excepted. *Id*. Dancers provide no evidence that the Dancer Performance Lease is such an entertainment contract which is excepted from NRS 608.0155(1)(c)(2). Opening Brief at 40.

Indeed, the District Court found that Dancers' contract was not excepted from NRS 608.0155(1)(c)(2) because Dancers were not required to work on any specific days and could determine for themselves what dates and shifts they wish to perform. APPX. at V, 958. Dancers meet the requirements of NRS 608.0155(1)(c)(2).

## c. Appellants Conceded Below that NRS 608.0155(1)(c)(3) Is Satisfied.

The District Court found that Dancers satisfied the requirements of NRS 608.0155(1)(c)(3). APPX. at V, 956-957, 959. Dancers have not challenged this issue in their Opening Brief.

### d. NRS 608.0155(1)(c)(4) Is Also Satisfied.

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